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Welcome to the Groundbreakers Guide

As you walk around Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park you will notice many new buildings, new housing,
schools, workplaces, offices and hotels, even a new university campus and cultural quarter, as the
London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic legacy materialises on the ground. It is easy then to think that
there was nothing much here before 2012, and indeed much of the official media coverage
portrayed the site as a semi-derelict wasteland awaiting regeneration. In fact, the area now occupied
by the Park has a long and complex history of human settlement, manufacture, and recreational use,
as well as a changing population of plants and animals. In these ways the site has continually
responded to the larger forces at work in London - and the world - over the past centuries.

The transformation of Stratford from a small rural hamlet to a railway town built around a
concentration of ‘dirty’ industry in the Victorian period caused a dramatic disruption of long
established pre-industrial patterns of life and labour, some of which adapted while many more
disappeared and were replaced by new technologies of work and leisure.

The late twentieth and early twenty-first centuries have seen east London change once more from
an industrial heartland to a cosmopolitan hub of global information and a predominantly services-
based economy. The step change associated with the coming of the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games has been a much more abrupt process, disrupting many patterns of East Enders’ established
ways of life; some of these impacts are still being worked through and are weekly dramatized in the
nation’s most popular TV soap, as East Enders adapt to the new circumstances and opportunities,
and weigh up what has been gained and lost.

As always, the impact of change has been uneven. East London has one of the most socially and
ethnically diverse populations in Britain and, over the last 150 years, its communities have found
themselves at the forefront of many struggles to improve living and working conditions and establish
more open and democratic institutions. Out of this has grown a vibrant local culture expressed in
sport, popular music, theatre, and the arts.

In setting out to tell this story, The Groundbreakers online guide will unearth and bring to life some
of the histories whose physical traces, like the rivers and tunnels which criss-cross the Park, are now
largely forgotten or hidden from sight. Did you know that the site once contained a Roman bridge? A
network of now lost waterways? An anti-aircraft gun emplacement? A sweet factory? A speedway
and greyhound track whose popularity rivalled that of football in the 1950s? All these and more
await you in this guide.

In digging down into this buried past we aim to show you its relevance to our lives today. For
example, during the ‘Dig, Design and Demolish’ phase of Olympic Park construction, archaeologists
discovered evidence of a prehistoric settlement beneath what is now the London Aquatics Centre on
Carpenters Road. But archaeology is not just for professional archaeologists. In 2006, Paul and Gary,
a father and son team of riggers, whose job it was to drill down for soil samples to help direct the
giant boring machines driving two tunnels across the site, discovered coins, bottles, clay pipes,
perfumes and shrapnel, each of which tell their own story about an aspect of the area’s past.



One of the finds (Photograph: Phil Cohen)

For Gary’s eighteenth birthday his dad made him a special version of a Monopoly board, with each
site renamed to depict an event or situation that had occurred in and around the Park during its
construction, each property acting as a prompt for the recounting of a story (see ‘Gary’s Olympic
Game’ at the end of this guide).

We think that these stories are as much part of the 2012 legacy as the London Stadium, the
ArcelorMittal Orbit, the Copper Box Arena and the Lee Valley Hockey and Tennis Centre. So too are
the plants and animals, whose presence, and sometimes absence, has done so much to give this
environment its distinctive character. A connecting thread is provided by the theme of
‘groundbreaking’, considered as both a disruptive material process in which capital, labour and
technology interact with the non-human environment to transform the landscape, whether for
better or worse, and as a statement about the collective human hopes and dreams invested in that
enterprise. In bringing these two sides of the story together in a single conversation about the past,
present and future of this site, we hope to live up to the project’s title.



How to use this guide

The material in the guide is organised thematically, and within each theme, chronologically. It has
been designed for those who prefer a paper copy, to take with you on your walk or read up
beforehand to help plan your visit, but all the content of this guide can be found on the
Groundbreakers online map and guide.

For brevity we haven’t included a map for each point interest in this printed guide — the map with all
these locations can be viewed online. In addition, we have nine Augmented Reality heritage hot
spots accessible via a QR code on signs in the Park. These are designed for on-site use, but the QR
codes can also be used at home and found on the trail leaflet in the ‘resources’ section of the
website. In this guide, we have included video links to give you an idea of what it is like to view the
augmented reality experiences that were recorded in the testing phase of the project.
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The Groundbreakers web5|te mcIudes scrollable maps for each theme.
The four themes are as follows:

Fluid Histories traces the entangled flows of people, goods, water, electricity, and waste that have
shaped the landscape.

Encampments and other dwellings documents patterns of human habitation and home making from
the Bronze Age to the digital age and the impact they have had on the local environment.

Edgelands remade looks at the many ways the site and its inhabitants both human and non-human,
have been transformed as it is excavated, engineered, polluted, demolished and re-built.

Level Playing Fields? examines changing patterns of local labour and leisure in the nineteenth and
twentieth centuries as communities struggle to improve their conditions of life, including through
sport and leisure activities.


https://www.livingmaps.org/groundbreakers
https://www.livingmaps.org/groundbreakers-whole-map
https://www.livingmaps.org/groundbreakers-resources

Digging deeper
> If you have enjoyed this guide, you may be interested in The Young Person’s Guide to the
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, co-produced by the Living Maps Network.
» If you want to explore the history of a site in greater depth, each entry has suggestions for
further reading.

Fluid Histories: with and against the flow

This theme traces the flows of people, goods, water, electricity, and waste that have shaped the park
landscape.

Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park has been host to many different comers, stayers and goers over the
past two centuries. They may not all have left much by way of records, but their stories can still be
told, at least partly through the hidden history of the landscape itself. There is the Northern Outfall
sewer, a monument to the genius of Joseph Bazalgette, the great Victorian civil engineer, built as a
response to the Great Stink of 1857 when London was threatened with an all too palpable form of
human pollution. Until recently the River Lea, and its linked canal system, was an important conduit
of commerce, carrying flows of coal from South Wales and Sunderland, wool from Canada, and many
other goods. It was not for nothing that the River Lea became known as London’s breadbasket. But
elsewhere on the site, rivers and streams have been built over and are now underground, whether
by accident or design. You can read their story in the poem Wild Swimmers, which was
commissioned for the 2012 Games and is now displayed close to the London Aquatics Centre.

With the advent of new clusters of industry around Stratford, great volumes of energy flowed here,
along narrow, purpose-built conduits: canals, railways, roads, power cables and production lines
where workforces were concentrated. These workers operated machines and other equipment that
allowed stores of energy and manufactured goods to circulate. Their strategic position in these flows
gave the labour force opportunities to create new forms of self-organisation, including trade unions
and forge a new kind of political democracy, which included, for the first time in the 1880s, unskilled
workers.

These developments made this area into a major transport hub and an area for settlement, as many
people moved from the surrounding countryside (and beyond) to find work here. Stratford New
Town, just to the east of the site, was built from the 1840s onwards to provide housing for workers
employed in the enormous Stratford Railway works, constituting what might be called a new
‘labourhood’.

One important material symbol of the age of Industry, and of the shift away from steam power as its
main engine, was a chain of huge electricity pylons that strode across the landscape carrying the
powerlines that kept the city’s economy going. For some they were proud symbols of modernity, but
more recently, with the advent of a post-industrial economy, they have come to be seen as an
unsightly scar on the landscape.

As the site was transformed into the main venue for the 2012 Games the pylons were the first to go;
the electricity cables were buried in two giant tunnels spanning the Park, along with fibre optic
cables powering the new information economy. The tunnels were built by a workforce assembled
from all over the country. Some of the older workers were ex- miners from the coalfields in Kent, the
Midlands and the North closed in the 1980s; many others came from Ireland as well as the EU.
Tunnelling is a highly skilled, dangerous and physically demanding job and the men who do it form a


https://www.oureast20.com/wordpress/
https://www.joshapcott.com/calendar/2012/7/27/olympic-poem

close-knit community as they travel the country from one major construction project to the next.
They are a very special kind of migrant workforce.

The tunnellers were following in the footsteps of East Enders over a long period, so many of them
immigrants and refugees from the trouble spots of Europe and from the ex-colonies, bringing with
them new ideas and ways of life; some settled and put down roots others moved out, further east in
search of greener pastures, and in a few cases less diverse communities. More recently those on low
incomes have found themselves pushed out because they cannot afford to live in an area where
house prices have gone through the roof.

We are used to thinking about human and animal populations as being on the move, but we still
tend to see plants as rooted to the spot and ignore both their own hidden lines of communication
and how their direction of travel is shaped. Every stage in the development of east London’s
transport network has had significant impact on our native wildlife. Groundbreaking can have a
negative impact on the natural environment, breaking up species habitats and reducing biodiversity,
but it can also facilitate the spread of various forms of wildlife. The building of canals created a
corridor along which waterside plants could migrate from the countryside. The abundant cargoes
once carried along the canals, especially grain and the substance known as 'wool shoddy',
inadvertently carried and spread seeds from many different parts of the world, giving the local flora
a cosmopolitan aspect that mirrored the area's human population.

The advent of new flows of people coming into the Park, some as visitors from London, the UK and
abroad, some to work, study and live in the new neighbourhoods, is also re-shaping the landscape.
People love to wander off the beaten track and this process of improvised footfall, sometimes called
a ‘line of desire’ is slowly creating a new network of pathways across the Park. This unofficial do-it —
ourselves form of commoning is an increasingly important form of urban place-making and a sure
sign that the Park is a living environment.



Flows of sewerage

Unknown Boy Fishing, circa 1900 (© London Borough of Newham Heritage Service)

Crossing the Park between Hackney Wick and Stratford is a footway and cycle track raised onto an
embankment called the Greenway. It offers dramatic views towards sporting venues, public spaces
and new development across Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. But the embankment has a much older
purpose — it contains a sewer, bearing a constant flow of North London’s wastewater towards
treatment works at the margins of London. Huge pipes contain the sewage, bearing it aloft across all
the meandering rivers.

Flows of river water and waste were not always so effectively separated in this part of the Lea

Valley, nor in London more broadly. In the mid-nineteenth century, London had no sewer network,
and this was increasingly recognized as a major contributory factor in the prevalence of deadly
diseases such as Cholera and Typhus. The city’s rivers were open sewers, including both the Thames
and the River Lea. A major outbreak of Cholera in 1853-1854 which claimed 10,000 lives across the
city finally provided a key stimulus for the civil engineer Joseph Bazalgette to design a sewer network
while Parliament was finally driven to take action by the Great Stink of 1858, when the smell of the
Thames made working in Westminster unbearable. Eventually completed in 1875, the development
of this network was instrumental in improving public health.

The Northern Outfall Sewer which lies beneath the Greenway is one of the main intercepting sewers
in the network. As with other sewer lines, it works by force of gravity, drawing in waste from various
branch sewers along its length. In certain places in the network, pumping stations were required to
bring waste-water from local branches up to the level of the main sewer. One of those was Abbey



Mills, which lies just south of Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. Abbey Mills pumping station is named
after former water mills that were managed in the same location by the Cistercian monks of the long
vanished Medieval Abbey of Stratford Langthorne. Dubbed the ‘Cathedral of Sewage’, the pumping
station was designed in a florid Byzantine style which, if surprising at a time when industrial
buildings are rarely more than sheds, evokes a sense of triumphant conquest of urbanills by
Victorian innovation and technology.

Bazalgette was chief engineer of London’s first city government, the Metropolitan Board of Works,
and the safe flow of sewage is an important legacy of this institution. It is also part of a wider story
of how London’s infrastructure, and unruly urban fabric, has been progressively reordered through
city-level government intervention since the nineteenth century. The sewer’s construction also
reflects a key moment in the history of public health reform in London, a political process which had
been fraught with disagreement regarding the links between poverty, dirt, development, morality
and disease, but which was boosted by rapid advancements in epidemiology from the mid-
nineteenth century.

In Hackney Wick, where the sewer runs overground as a result of the low levels of the floor of the
Lea Valley, local lives were transformed by its construction, along with many other neighbourhoods
in London. Hackney Wick was a poor, overcrowded place on marshy ground where homes lay cheek
by jowl with industry. It was reliant on cesspools and the local rivers for waste disposal, until it was
linked up to the sewage network in the 1860s. On occasion, floods would cause raw sewage to spill
out onto unpaved roads where it would subsequently fester or dribble back into the soil and
waterways. However, it would seem that sanitary practices did not change overnight on the
construction of the sewerage system. A local missionary reported in 1882 that ‘excrement is still
floating around in the river’ where it joined the toxic effluent of factories and dead animal carcasses.
However, according to an 1885 government report into working class housing, ‘the paving and
draining of the places [had] improved Hackney Wick immensely’ by then.

As it shaped health in the metropolis, the construction of sewers removed waste from the urban
experience — no longer was it visible, nor a constant contributor to the city’s olfactory landscapes.
This of course is something we take for granted today. However, you can still find places near the
ventilation grilles along the Greenway where wafts of sewage, like memories of the ‘Great Stink’ of
1858, may be detected. In turn, at the places where the exposed sewerage pipes can be seen under
the Greenway bridges that cross roads and rivers in the Park, the scale of the transformation, along
with the skill and craftsmanship, involved in Victorian sewer construction, can be appreciated.

D

Augmented reality hotspot (video of on-site experience): the Northern Outfall Sewer

Further reading

Ashton, R., (2017). One Hot Summer, Dickens, Darwin, Disraeli and the Great Stink of 1858, New
Haven and London: Yale University Press.

Trench, E. and Hillman, R. London Under London: A Subterranean Guide. London: John Murray.

Davis, J (2016). The making and remaking of Hackney Wick, 1870—2014: from urban edgeland to
Olympic fringe, Planning Perspectives, 31:3, 425-457

Halliday, S. (1999). The Great Stink of London: Sir Joseph Bazalgette and the Cleansing of the
Victorian Metropolis. Stroud: Sutton Publishing.

Lewis, J.(2010) Water and Waste: four hundred years of health improvements in the Lea Valley.
London: Libri Publishing.
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https://drive.google.com/file/d/1QdC56WZ2DqpR5DEjg-j1XsAuIM2B7RK9/view?usp=sharing

A Missing Bridge

During the 2007-8 excavations of the Olympic and Paralympic Games site at Stratford, one of the
most important things the archaeologists searched for was evidence for the earliest bridge across
the River Lea.

Today there are many crossing over the Lea, with the largest being Bow Bridge to the south of the
Park and the A12 at Hackney Wick. Two thousand years ago the situation was very different. The
area was still deep in the countryside, the River Lea was far wider, and the land much more boggy.
What is now Stratford lay far away from the newly founded Roman city of London (then called
Londinium) which was focused around today’s Bank and the Square Mile. There was no London
before the Romans arrived in c. 50 AD, though there were many small prehistoric settlements like
the one you can read about at the London Aquatics Centre.

The Romans’ road building skills are still famous today and they built a huge network radiating
outwards from London to other towns and cities. One of these roads led out towards Essex and a
city then called Camulodunum (now Colchester). However, to get there, this road first needed to

cross the Lea and the surrounding marshes. It was this bridge that the archaeologists hoped to find
in the Olympic excavations.
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The possible routes of the Roman road across today’s Quéen Elizabeth Olympic Park

In 1722 the famous author Daniel Defoe wrote that he had heard reports of stone ruins close to
Hackney Wick that he thought must have been part of the Roman road to Essex. This was said to
meet the Essex side of the River near to today’s Lee Valley VeloPark. Defoe was one of the sources of
evidence the archaeologists used to inform their search. However, his account was challenged by
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more direct evidence seen in Bow, just to the west of Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. Here
archaeologists found a five metre-wide gravelled road, complete with small, separate ‘pavements’
for pedestrians and drainage ditches. This was at the Lefevre Walk Estate, not far from Roman Road
Market (the name is a give-away!). This section of road lined up towards Camulodunum in a
direction that, if projected onwards, would seem to cross the Lea and Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park
near today’s London Stadium (the former Olympic stadium). This seemed to be the most likely
candidate for the line of the road and bridge rather than Defoe’s Hackney Wick theory or the
crossing site of Bow Bridge to the south.

Bow Bridge itself was originally built around 1110 AD. Prior to this, people had crossed the River
here using a ford but after a number of accidental drownings — and Good Queen Maud (wife of
Henry I) ‘herselfe had beene well washed’ trying to cross — the bridge was constructed.

During the excavations, the archaeologists looked high and (very) low, up and down the Lea for the
Roman Bridge in a series of trenches. Today, after thousands of years of flooding and dumping, the
foundations of the bridge would be all that remain buried deep in the mud and it was hoped that
these wooden posts could have still survived. Unfortunately no sign of the bridge was found, despite
the diggers’ best efforts.

However, archaeologists did find pottery and drainage ditches from the Roman period, suggesting
people were farming and managing the land at this time, even this far away from Londinium. As
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park and the surrounding areas continue to develop, more excavations will
have to take place and hopefully some of these will find more conclusive evidence of the bridge in
future.

1G

Further reading

Brown, G (2008). Archaeological evidence for the Roman London to Colchester road between
Aldgate and Harold Hill. In John Clark, Jonathan Cotton, Jenny Hall, Roz Sherris, & Hedley
Swain (eds) Londinium and beyond: essays on Roman London and its hinterland for Harvey
Sheldon. York: Council for British Archaeology, 82—89.

Powell, A. (2012). By river, fields and factories: the making of the Lower Lea valley: archaeological
and cultural heritage investigations on the site of the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games. Salisbury: Wessex Archaeology, 66—70.

How Queen Matilda’s Dip in the Lea created Bow Bridge, Roman Road London.

The Pudding Mill Boat

Walking along the towpath of the Old River Lea just outside the hospitality suite of London Stadium
(the former Olympic stadium), you might notice a strange dog-leg in the river wall covered in reeds.
This former inlet is all that remains of the Pudding Mill River, a stream that was filled-in for the
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https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/library/browse/details.xhtml?recordId=3046553
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/library/browse/details.xhtml?recordId=3046553
https://romanroadlondon.com/history-bow-bridge-queen-matilda/

Games construction in 2007.

The infilled inlet of the Pudding Mill River today. The boat excavation was located just beneath the
London Stadium's hospitality suite (at left). The River was infilled in 2007 to enable the stadium
and other venues' construction. Photograph by Jonathan Gardner, CC BY-NC 4.0]

During the Games excavations archaeologists (pictured below) found an almost intact rowing boat at
the bottom of an older part of the Pudding Mill River just to the northeast. This boat, dating from
the early nineteenth century, was made of overlapping planks and covered in a thick layer of coal tar
to help waterproof it. This also helped preserve it for over 200 years in the mud and eventually
under the backyard of Parkes Galvanizing until the Park was built in 2007. The boat was about 4.5m
long and 1.5m at its widest. It was much repaired and showed signs of a diverse career before its
abandonment: large rings set into the top of the keel may have originally been used for lifting the
boat, suggesting the possibility it was once used as a ‘launch’ to get on and off much larger sea-going
ships.
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Archaeologists excavating an early nineteenth century rowboat in a disused channel of the Pudding
Mill River in late 2007. © MOLA

By the time the boat ended up on the Pudding Mill it seems to have had a very different function:
being used as a ‘gun punt’ for hunting ducks and other wildfowl on the Bow Back Rivers. The
archaeologists found lead shot rattling around in a locker in the middle of the boat as well as signs of
modifications which may have indicated the mounting of a large duck-hunting gun on the front (the
hunters would have lain down to aim and fire this, having near-silently approached their quarry).
Intriguingly, a child’s toy cutlass was found in the mud just beneath the boat, suggesting that its final
use was more playful!

The boat was lifted whole out of the ground by the archaeologists and was donated to Bournemouth
University to help archaeology students learn how to document ancient watercraft.

1G

Further Reading
Gardner, J. (2016). How do you lose a river? Living Maps Review, 1:1, 1-14.

Powell, A. (2012). By river, fields and factories: the making of the Lower Lea valley: archaeological
and cultural heritage investigations on the site of the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games. Salisbury: Wessex Archaeology,113—-118, 288—-296.

Summary available from the Archaeology Data Service.
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http://livingmaps.review/journal/index.php/LMR/article/view/27
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-1175-1/dissemination/pdf/PDFA-SpecialistReports/6_Olympic_Worked_wood-PDFA.pdf

Temple Mills through time
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© Victoria and Albert Museum, London 1
The White Hart, on the River Lea at Temple Mills, Hackney Marshes painted by J.T. Wilson in 1869.
Now beneath the M11 link road. © Victoria & Albert Museum, London

The northeast of Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, near the Lee Valley VeloPark, is part of an area
called Temple Mills. This small area shows evidence of almost continuous industrial development
running from medieval times until the twentieth century that saw the use and modification of the
River Lea with watermills, weirs and the cutting of new channels.

The name Temple Mills comes from the Knights Templar (a religious military order, most famous for
their role fighting in the Crusades) who established several water mills here by 1185. These mills
produced flour for London and were later taken over by the Order of St John of Jerusalem, whose
priory buildings can still be seen near Farringdon in central London. At Temple Mills, flour and other
types of mill remained in operation until the late nineteenth century, including one which made
gunpowder (this accidentally blew up in 1690!). The mills also saw a pub established in 1513 called
The White Hart. This (pictured above) survived in much modified form until 1995 and the building of
the A12-M11 link road, by which point it had been called variously, ‘The Spooky Lady’, ‘The
Flamingo’, ‘Flappers’ and ‘The Wax Club’ (famous for its club nights).

The River Lea was an important source of waterpower for the mills to grind grain, but also an
important source of transport before reliable roads or the coming of the railways. River transport
allowed produce to be brought down from the rich agricultural lands of the Upper Lea Valley.

Archaeologists searched for these mills to the northwest of the Velodrome during the Games’ largest
dig in the summer of 2008 — a trench 40m long, 20m wide and 7m deep. Although no clear signs of
the earliest medieval mills were found (which were likely to have been slightly further north, under
the route of the A12-M11 near the pub), many traces of other milling and industrial buildings were
discovered. The earliest of these were dated to the late sixteenth century (deduced from pottery
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and tobacco pipes found with them), and one was associated with a large timber-lined channel,
which could have contained a waterwheel to power machinery.

The archaeologists, with the help of old maps, showed that extensive changes had been made to the
River Lea’s course and a channel called the Tumbling Bay Stream was constructed to the east. This
was later filled-in, but would have carried water to and from the mills and originally split off from the
main River Lea Channel in East Marsh to the north. A ‘tumbling bay’ is an old name for a weir —a
small dam across a river used to control the flow of water to help ensure mills’ waterwheels had
enough power to turn. In the past, all these modifications and weirs sometimes caused problems
downstream, particularly in dry periods of weather. There are accounts of bargemen and fishermen
complaining that Temple Mills’ millers were holding back so much water that the lower stretches
were an insufficient depth for them to earn a living.

By the early nineteenth century, a street was also constructed here with six brick-built cottages
down its western side. The foundations and lower parts of the walls of these cottages survived
remarkably intact and were associated with a long ‘cobbled’ street made of thousands of granite
blocks. Archaeologists also found a neat pavement of flagstones and granite kerbs and lead gas pipes
running into the houses, the latter having been added at the beginning of the twentieth century.
From census records, we know the jobs of some of the people who lived here in the mid-nineteenth
century; these ranged from millers, to silk weavers and ‘cow keepers’. Records also show that the
original mills built next to the White Hart Pub were demolished in 1854 and that, by the 1930s, the
cottages themselves seem to have been abandoned. A ‘rough shoot’ (rubbish dump) was established
here in 1893 by the London County Council and, by the 1930s, more extensive dumping of ashes and
rubbish from Hackney and elsewhere took place on a larger dump known as the West Ham Tip. This
operated until 1967 and eventually entirely buried all of the cottages and the cobbled street (and is
the reason why the archaeology trench was over 7 m deep).

Elsewhere in this guide you can read about the Manor Garden Allotments, the WWII anti-aircraft
defences, Civil Defence Corps site and the Eastway Cycle Circuit, all of which sprung up here around
Temple Mills. Today this site’s long history is remembered in the name of the nearby ‘Tumbling Bay
Playground’ just to the south, Temple Mills Lane and the Temple Mills Eurostar train depot to the
north. The granite blocks and kerbstones from the street and the cottages were reused throughout
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park as stepping stones — keep an eye out for them!

1G

Further reading

Powell, A. (2012). By River, Fields and Factories: the making of the Lower Lea valley: archaeological
and cultural heritage investigations on the site of the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games. Salisbury: Wessex Archaeology, chapters 5 and 6.

MOLA Team (2008) Cobbled street unearthed on London 2012 site, MOLA, London
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Industrial flows

Carpenter's Road and Environs, Stratford, 1921 (Historic England Aerofilms Collection)

When London won the bid for the 2012 Olympics in July 2005, the area that was to become Queen
Elizabeth Olympic Park accommodated 284 businesses, employing some 5,000 people. Diverse
products were made and assembled here from clothing and textiles to smoked salmon, chemicals,
glass products, theatre sets and galvanized metal. There were also several waste and recycling firms,
motor vehicle repairers, bus depots and garages, wholesale food suppliers, offices and cafes. The
range reflected not only London’s economic diversity but also its multiculturalism, the product of
historical flows of goods and people into and through London over time.

After the site for today’s Park was assembled for the Olympic and Paralympic Games and legacy
transformation, these firms were relocated far and wide. Many moved out to industrial areas further
east from central London, although some were forced to close, and others left London altogether. In
general, these movements marked a new stage in the history of the decline and dispersal of
manufacturing in London.

Many businesses were not more than a few years old in 2005, yet the history of industry in the
Lower Lea Valley reaches back far further. The first industry within the Park’s boundaries was a mill
thought to have been built by the Catholic order of the Knight’s Templars in 1185 for milling flour.
Over the centuries, the same mill was used to power numerous industries from leather to smalt to
utensil fabrication. However, until the mid-nineteenth century, the area was largely rural, a marshy
place, utilized for grazing rather than settlement or production. In the eighteenth century, its
western fringes began to industrialize, firms specializing in textiles, brewing and glass, amongst
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other things. But from the 1850s, it began to accommodate the so called ‘offensive trades’ which the
Metropolitan Building Act of 1855 evocatively defined as ‘blood-boiler, bone-boiler, fellmonger,
slaughterer of cattle, sheep, or horses, soap boiler, tallow-melter [and] tripe-boiler’. By the start of
the twentieth century, the range also encompassed chemicals and oil works, matchworks, printing
inks, colour works and a distillery.

T.H. Harris and Son Ltd, Stratford - Tallow Treating Plant, 1927. (© London Borough of Newham
Heritage Service)

Change in this topography of industry was continuous throughout the twentieth century, shaped by
complex forces including changing consumer markets and technological advancements, but also
geopolitics, including two World Wars and the decline of Britain’s Empire. Urban growth (as London
continued to expand up until 1939) and the city’s planning strategy from the 1930s also influenced
the changes. Abercrombie and Forshaw’s Greater London Plan of 1944, produced as a plan for the
revitalization of London after the Second World War, strongly advocated the decentralisation of
industry. In many ways, the Olympic project can be seen as bringing that strategy finally to fruition,
after many decades.
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J Bowden and Son Ltd - Glass Works (Juliet Davis, 2007)

Although Stratford was still known as ‘Stinky Stratford’ in the 1960s, a steady reduction in the
prevalence of offensive trades occurred throughout the twentieth century. Printing and paint-
making continued for much of this period, as did some chemicals, but furniture and clothing,
engineering packing and construction firms flowed into in the area in the wake of trades such as
soap and tallow. From the 1970s, larger firms tended to move out and many collapsed in the wider
contexts of the decline of London’s port and deindustrialisation across the UK. The spaces they
vacated were reoccupied over the final years of the century by the sorts of smaller firms that the
Olympic project went on to displace. Now salvage, recycling and repair, along with retail, took the
place of production-focussed activity from the industrialisation period.
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2005 is not, however, the end of the story of manufacturing on the site of the Park. Today, years
after the Olympics, the set of buildings formed to house media activities and the press during the
Games is billed as a new centre of entrepreneurialism and innovation that, while rooted in the digital
economy, builds on the legacy of earlier industry.

1D

Augmented reality hotspot (video of on-site experience): the development of industry around the
City Mill River.

Further reading:
Davies, M., J. Davis and D. Rapp (2017). Dispersal: picturing urban change in east London. Swindon:
Historic England Publishing.

Hall, P. (2007 [1962]). The Industries of London Since 1861. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.

Lewis, J (2007). London's Lea Valley: Britain's Best Kept Secret. Bognor Regis: Phillimore Book
Publishing.

Marriott, J. (2011). Beyond the Tower: A History of East London. New Haven and London: Yale
University Press.

Carpenters Road Lock

Carpenters Road Lock from Marshgate Lane, 2007. (Gordon Joly Creative Commons CC-BY-3.0)
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Carpenters Road Lock, 2017 (Toby Butler)
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Passenger boat using the lock at the East London Waterways Festival, 2017 (Toby Butler)
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The waterways around Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park not only shaped the river marsh natural
landscape but with a combination or dredging, channelling and engineering they became essential
sources of drinking water, power and freight transport. Within the Park Carpenters Road Lock is a
dramatic and unique example of waterway engineering, originally completed in 1934. After a
particularly bad flood in 1928 which put Stratford Railway works underwater, the lock was designed
to be strong enough to resist and regulate the flow of flood water to preserve safe river levels, as
well as allow for convenient passage for boats between Waterworks River (which as its name
suggests, was a major source of drinking water in east London) and City Mill River (which supplied
water power to waterwheels for grinding corn into flour).

Water transport, once essential to supply materials and transport goods from the factories and
works in the area, was eclipsed by rail and road freight companies in the twentieth century. After
decades of disuse, the vertical lift radial lock gates have been restored by the Canal & River Trust as
part of a £1.8m restoration project. They are unusual because they are designed for flood defence as
well as river traffic — in fact they are the only lock gates of their kind in the country, and since
completion of the restoration are now in use by commercial, leisure and working vessels for the first
time since 1960s.

The restored lock was officially opened in 2017 at the East London Waterways Festival a fanfare of
activities. The Canal Choir sang and Olympians Jessica Eddie (rower) and Joe Clark (canoeist) formally
declared the gates open. A large crowd of 200-300 people stood on the towpath, bridges or in boats
to watch the proceedings, or sat watched from terraces built into the earthworks (which later that
evening became the auditorium for an outdoor cinema).

The Canal Choir at the opening ceremony (Toby Butler)

B
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Augmented reality hotspot (video of on-site experience): Carpenters Road Lock and canal
building around the Lea Navigation.

Further reading

Canal and River Trust: Carpenters Road Lock website, including a facility to book a boat trip around
the London Stadium and through the lock. The Trust also has a site specific /mobile friendly web
page, including images and recordings of the restoration process and audio walking trails.

‘West Ham: Ancient Mills’ in A History of the County of Essex: Volume 6. Originally published by
Victoria County History, London, 1973, p. 89-93.

M11 Link Road

The M11 link road is a four mile stretch of road opened in 1999 to increase traffic flow between the
Docklands and the M11 (Cambridgeshire). The scheme was part of a post-war urban ‘ringways’
scheme, based on Abercrombie’s 1944 Greater London Plan for a series of concentric motorways in
greater London. The link road scheme involved the demolition of over 350 homes and a thousand
people were displaced. It was a controversial scheme fiercely resisted by those who felt that
motorways should not be built so close to residential communities, and objected on environmental
grounds, the loss of green space and the destruction and division of communities.

The scheme was the site of the biggest road protest in Europe with dramatic scenes of protesters
occupying almost an entire road of condemned housing (Claremont Road in Leyton, just over a mile
north-east of the Park) locking themselves to chimneys and being forcibly removed by police and
security officials.

Adjacent to the Park the road scheme involved the destruction of a pub/hotel, the White Hart
(situated at the south end road intersection with Temple Mills). It catered for cyclists and football
players/supporters as it was so close to the sports pitches and facilities in and around Hackney
Marsh; see the ‘Temple Mills through time’ section for more details.
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http://www.crl.london/en/category/61
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https://www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/essex/vol6/pp89-93
https://www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/essex/vol6

Image showing the location of the M11 link road superimposed on to a 1947 OS Map, overlaying a
modern satellite image (red line added to original, base maps reproduced with the permission of
the National Library of Scotland).

One of the displaced residents, artist Graeme Miller, made ‘Linked’ a sound installation featuring 20
transmitters along the route. Receivers (available free from local libraries) allow walkers to listen to
edited interviews with residents remembering the streets/communities displaced by the road.

It was the last major trunk road to be built before the new Labour government announced a shift in
transport policy which cancelled many major road schemes and introduced a Congestion Charge to
discourage car travel to central London in 2003.

B

Further reading

Abercrombie, P. (1945) Greater London Plan 1944, HMSO, London.
M11 Link Road Protest, Wikipedia
Early images of the White Heart have been published online by Alan Russell and Pubwiki
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Miller, G. (2003) Linked
Butler, T and Miller, G (2005) ‘Linked: a landmark in sound, a public walk of art’, Cultural

Geographies 12,1 77-88 and reprinted in Perks, Robert and Alistair Thompson (eds.) The Oral History
Reader (2™ Edition) London, Routledge, 2006, 425-433.

The Museum of London has archive material from the Road protests and extensive video footage
has been published on YouTube by Neil Goodwin in the The Lock ‘n’ Rollie Years

The tunnellers: power lines
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Demounting the pylons (Phil Cohen)

The Powerlines project was part of the first phase of the construction process for the Olympic
Games which started in 2006. It involved digging two large tunnels across the whole site, extending
for several miles between West Ham and Hackney, in order to reroute underground the power
cables from the electricity pylons that dominated the site, and which were due to be demolished. At
the same time the site was being cleared and prepared for the actual construction phase, and this
involved demolishing many buildings, and treating heavily polluted soil.
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Map indicating powerline routes (provided by Phil Cohen)

Between September 2006 and April 2007, during the last phase of the project when the tunnels
were nearing completion, Phil Cohen interviewed surface and underground workers as well as
managers on site, and also conducted site observations. The interviews focused on the workers’
backgrounds —how they had come to be in this line of work — their experiences of working on the
site, and their views on the Olympics. Some members of the local community were also interviewed.
What follows are extracts from what they had to say. Names have been altered to preserve
anonymity.

Breaking through (Phil Cohen)
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Kevin McManus (chief engineer)

| grew up in Barrow on Furness, at a time when shipbuilding was still going strong, and | became
fascinated by what people can make with their hands and with technologies. But then the shipyards
closed, and when | left school | decided to go to mining college instead. I'd always been interested
in geology, so this seemed like a good move. But then the pits started to close so | moved sideways
into tunneling. It’s an interesting industry because very little of it can be formally taught. The
learning process involves gaining an understanding and respect for the ground. We are
groundbreakers, we have to negotiate with the ground and reach agreement with the forces of
nature. Steering a full-faced tunnel boring machine is like steering a submarine blind underground.
You have to have a feel for the earth, as well as all the technical information you need to keep it on
course.

Sean McKusker (rigger)

There’s a lot of contaminated ground on the Olympics site, and we have to find out what’s there so
when the boring machine goes through they know what it is going to hit. Otherwise they are drilling
blind. We hit gases twice which knocked us out... now we all have gas alarms and special protective
clothing. You find a lot of nasties, oil, contaminants, some interesting stuff too. We have found dolls,
shoes, nice bottles, some real antiques — still waiting for the unexploded bomb.

Alan Peake (concrete finisher)

When you go down there, in the tunnel, you lose all sense of whether it’s day or night. In the
summer it’s not so bad, but in the winter it’s a bit funny, because you go down when it’s dark and
you come up when it’s dark. You begin to wonder whether you are ever going to see the sunlight
again. It's like being a mole. But you get used to it. It may not suit everyone, but the job has its bright
side, the lads are good crack and the money is not bad.

Colin Laughton (miner)

Tunneling is a special kind of job. It’s in your blood. We look after one another; it’s like a family in a
way. If someone is off sick, or has an accident, we have a whip-round to make sure his family is all
right. You don’t get that same spirit in most other jobs; it’s usually everyone out for themselves. It’s
something to do with the danger. Your life depends on the people you're working with. | like a
challenge. | drove lorries in Iraq for the Americans after the fall of Baghdad. It was dodgy, some
people got blown up, but the money was good. | came back because | was missing my family and the
sense of community in work and | heard about this job.

Rohan Mistry (banksman and Newham resident)

| was working as a traffic marshal to make some extra cash while | was at college studying science
and computers, and | met this guy who said ‘why don’t you go for training as a banksman?’ | thought
he meant working in a bank, but then he explained it was a bit like what | was doing already, only
more skilled and more money, plus it was for the Olympics. So | went for my ticket and | got it. The
banksman is responsible for the slinging and securing of loads that go into and out of the pit shaft.
The crane man is blind, he can’t see over the edge into the pit bottom, so you have to be his eyes,
and produce signals that tell him exactly what to do. If the load isn’t strapped right and properly
balanced, if it goes down wrong and slips, then people could get hurt. It’s a team effort. We have a
solid gang — the craneman, the banksman on the surface, the pit boss below. On the site health and
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safety is very strict because of the Olympics. It’s quite different from India, where there are lots of
accidents in construction. Still there they have eight-hour days, five days a week, whereas here it is
twelve-hour shifts and you could be working seven nights in a row. That is bound to affect your
concentration and can lead to accidents. When the tunnelling is over | want to stay on site and get a
job in construction, because | live nearby in Newham. | feel that the Olympics is a big chance for us in
Newham and also for my community, and we have a responsibility to make the most of it.

Pat Loughrane (crane driver)

You don’t get Irish lads over any more. It’s been prosperous there until recently, so they don’t have
to go abroad looking for work. A lot of them are going to college now and getting an education and
they don’t want to get their hands dirty. So that generation is going and now we are looking to the
East Europeans. This town won’t function without the East Europeans and all the other immigrants.
They are hard workers. That’s the way it is, that’s the way it should be and that’s the way it’s always
been in east London. It’s great. We are all immigrants here. I’'m an immigrant. The East End is where
people come to get a start in life.

Les Mawson (grouter)

This new shift system we’ve got, seven days on, four off, it really ruins your social life. Because one
week you may get only two days work and the next you’ll be on nine shifts. It varies from month to
month. It means you can’t plan much ahead. And it could cause problems with budgeting. One week
you may have a lot coming in and the next hardly anything. It's good for the lads from Manchester or
Ireland, it means they can go home and see their families, but it’s ruined my social life. | don’t really
have one at the moment. | think the only reason they brought it in is so they get more flexible
working arrangements and save money. But there’s no union, so there’s not much we can do

about it.

South shaft (Phil Cohen)
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John Wild (Rigger)

None of the sites I've worked on have been unionised. Some of them are very dodgy as regards
health and safety and they have very poor facilities. Like you need to be able to go and wash to get
contaminants off your hands. But if you ask for toilets or washing facilities they regard you as a
troublemaker and you don’t get asked back. But on this site, because it’s the Olympics, they are
running a tight ship. | remember the UCATT strikes [Union of Construction, Allied Trades and
Technicians]. | went to one of the meetings and asked them what was it about and they said, ‘never
mind, just put up your hand to vote for the strike’. | thought | can’t be doing with this. As a driller
you’re your own boss. There’s no-one on your back, and as long as you give them what they want
they leave you alone. If you don’t like the conditions on a job, you just move on to another site, not
go whingeing to a shop steward. We’re not usually on a site for more than a fortnight anyway. This
Olympics job, eighteen months, is very unusual. Mind you when there’s a recession, we’re the first
to get hit. No one is going to employ you.

Mark Pollard (pit boy)

| got the job through my dad. He’s a loco driver and one day the pit boss was asking around if
anyone knew someone looking for a job so my dad put me forward and here | am. The first day | was
here it was a bit weird. There was an accident and someone got crushed when a load fell off the
train. My job is to load up the train that goes to the face: the skips, the grout cart, the bogies that
carry the concrete rings for the tunnel. | work with this other lad. We're skivvies really, we fetch and
carry a lot of stuff for the pit boss. | was worried I'd get a lot of funny stuff from the men, stitching
the new boy up, what with being the youngest there, but perhaps 'cos my dad was around, and
there wasn’t time, they left me alone. | enjoy the banter, but you have to be careful who you try it
on with, because some of the men think it’s disrespectful coming from a young kid. It’s an old
fashioned kind of job.

Bill Chappell (health and safety engineer)

It's like being the conscience of both management and workforce. On one side you have the
managers saying ‘we need this job done’. On the other the workers saying ‘no way, it’s too risky’.
You’re in the middle, and you have to do a balancing act. You have to put systems in place to reduce
the risk to a level acceptable to the workforce, and you have to run the zone to ensure that the job
gets done on time and the firm’s profits don’t suffer. | see my job as keeping the workers out of
hospital and the management out of court. You have to look at the Olympic site as a disaster waiting
to happen, and everyone on it as potentially acting with suicidal stupidity. The site itself is
marshland, it’s heavily contaminated, and because of the war it’s a potential bomb site. If you don’t
get it right you could end with a dead body. My job is a bit like a goalkeeper’s. If | keep a clean sheet,
no-one notices I'm there. If | make a few spectacular saves, | get noticed and congratulated, but if |
let in too many goals | lose my place in the team.

Martin McDonagh (miner)

Office workers look at us and just think hard hats, navvies... yeah they lump us all together but each
one of us is different... you get all sorts down here, jokers, professors who think they know it all, piss
artists, people who know how to handle a guitar as well as shovel... we look after each other and
each one of us counts.

Peter Campbell (steel fixer and local resident)
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| live in Stratford, but | don’t think the Olympics is going to benefit ordinary working-class people. It’s
more likely to price us out of the area. | know this old woman, she lives in one of the council tower
blocks overlooking the Olympic site and they’re going to knock it down to ten storeys. She lives on
the twelfth floor, so they moved her out, but they didn’t find her anywhere local, they moved her to
Mile End where she doesn’t know anyone. All because of the Olympics. And if you walk round this
site now and ask how many people come from round here, you’ll be lucky to find a handful.

PC

Further Reading
Cohen, P. (2013) On the Wrong Side of the Track: East London and the Post Olympics London:
Lawrence and Wishart (particularly chapter 5: ‘In the Zone’)
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Encampments and Other Dwellings

This theme documents patterns of human settlement, habitation and home making, both transient
and permanent, from the Bronze Age to the digital age and the impact they have had on the local
environment.

The Covid 19 pandemic and the climate emergency has highlighted the centrality of our domestic
arrangements and lifestyles for our chances of survival. Over the centuries, this site, now world
famous as the once-upon-a-time home of the London 2012 Olympics, has provided a local habitation
and a name, not just an address, but a source of identity and belonging for diverse human
populations. For some it has offered a temporary refuge from the storms of history, a makeshift
encampment amidst the ruins of previous lives. For others, this location has offered a dwelling
space, a prospect and a stepping-stone to a better, more settled and secure existence.

Putting down roots can be a complicated long drawn-out affair, and in some ways humans can be
less adaptable than plants and animals to a rapidly changing environment. The ecological niches
established by local fauna and flora have proved remarkably resilient.

The inhabitants of the Bronze and Iron Age village would have made the most of the resources of the
natural environment to maintain their subsistence economy yet remained vulnerable to vagaries of
climate and disease. In the Middle Ages, when most of the site was still un-reclaimed marshland, the
inhabitants were mainly farmers and millers, with a few roadside settlements around Stratford.

Fast forward to the Victorian period and we see rows of narrow terraced dwellings springing up to
house the thousands of men, women and children who crowded in from the countryside to work in
the new industries that were making east London the hub of Imperial trade. For many of these new
city dwellers, allotments and back gardens provided important links to a less urban existence as well
as providing fruit and vegetables for the table when times were hard.

A popular music hall song of the time gently pokes fun at the intense pride many east Londoners felt
in cultivating their own little patch of Eden:

If you saw my little backyard/’Wot a pretty spot’, you'd cry/It's a picture on a sunny summer
day/Wiv the turnip tops and cabbages/Wot people doesn't buy/It makes it on a Sunday look

all gay...

Oh! it really is a very pretty garden/And Chingford to the Eastward could be seen/Wiv a
ladder and some glasses/You could see to 'Ackney Marshes/If it wasn't for the 'ouses in
between.

(You can hear Tom Carradine perform the full song here)

If industry was one compelling force in relocation, war brought a different kind of involuntary
resident to the area. During the First World War Germans living in London found themselves
interned in a camp in Stratford giving rise to its re-branding as ‘Little Germany’. During the Second
World War German prisoners of war were held in barracks nearby. A few POWs remained behind to
marry local girls, and some became staunch supporters of West Ham United after being taken to
watch a game at The Boleyn, the club’s home ground since 1904 and a home from home to
generations of Hammers fans, until the team moved to the refurbished Olympic Stadium.

For all too many of the area’s comers and goers the attempts to settle have been disrupted by
powerful economic forces beyond their control. The coming of the 2012 Olympics proved a mixed
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blessing in this regard. Some local inhabitants who wanted to remain were forced to leave. The
traveller’'s encampment on the edge of the site was demolished. So too was Clay’s Lane Estate, a
self-managed housing co-operative which provided cheap affordable housing for a community of
students and young people. New accommodation was found, but the community itself was
dispersed.

This important housing legacy is in danger of being forgotten as the Olympic regeneration effect
takes hold and the market value of land and housing threatens to make the area uninhabitable for
those on low incomes. The emergence of ‘tent cities’ on our streets, providing temporary
accommodation for the homeless, is one sign of these new times.

However, ‘gentrification’ is not a new phenomenon in east London. When Daniel Defoe visited
Stratford in 1722, he reported it had “...increased in buildings to a strange degree, within the
compass of about 20 or 30 years past at the most...this increase is, generally speaking, of hansom
large houses... being chiefly for the habitations of the richest citizens, such as either are able to keep
two houses, one in the country, and one in the city; or for such citizens as being rich, and having left
off trade, live altogether in these neighbouring villages, for the pleasure and health of the latter part
of their days’.

Some, like the young mothers living in Carpenters Estate, have resisted these processes of
displacement. Threatened with eviction and the demolition of their tower blocks, they occupied
some of the empty houses on the estate and have since broadened their campaign to address issues
of relevance for today’s ‘generation rent’.

The new student accommodation which has now been built in and around the Park means that the
young and mobile will have a strong if transient residential presence, alongside the affluent globe
trotters of the corporate economy housed in luxury apartments within the International Business
Quarter. Today when only a privileged few can look forward to a job for life, and many lack the
financial security to afford a permanent home, dwelling has become a much more precarious affair.
In addition to its well-off ‘floating population’, Newham continues to host a ‘sinking population’ of
people living precariously on the edge of poverty.

Fortunately, there are initiatives which buck these trends. The ex-Olympic village has brought
together people on low incomes paying social rents, with more affluent residents paying full market
rents but sharing the same level of accommodation and facilities; it is a bold social experiment which
is attempting to create a more level playing field to empower a new generation of east Londoners to
settle and build a community in keeping with the Olympic ideal and the legacy promise of 2012.

Another form of experiment in creating more inclusive kinds of urban habitat can be observed on
summer evenings on the steps leading down from the bridge linking Westfield shopping centre to
Stratford’s indoor street market. Here hundreds of young people have taken to congregating and
watching a parade of street entertainers. This impromptu amphitheatre has been called the
Piccadilly Circus of east London.

With the advent of global warming, with flood and fire an increasingly ever-present hazard,
temporary and easily moveable structures are likely to become an essential part of our future urban
fabric. This is a branch of architecture pioneered in the UK. In this context It Is perhaps worth
remembering that the Olympics and Paralympics are a moveable feast and that many of the
buildings put up for the 2012 Games were temporary, demountable structures, including, originally,
the main Stadium itself. Perhaps this capacity to put up, take down and transport human habitats
may yet prove to be the lasting legacy of London 2012.
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Prehistoric settlement

A Neolithic handaxe discovered during the Olympic excavations by archaeologist Veysel Apaydin in
2008. (Jonathan Gardner, CC BY-NC 4.0)

People have lived on the banks of the River Lea for thousands of years. The river was filled with fish,
while its floodplain attracted wild game and, later, provided fertile land for farming.

Though flint tools found further up the Lea Valley dated between 337,000-301,000 BC suggest forms
of early human species lived here as early as the Lower Palaeolithic, there is little evidence for any
such early settlement in Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park itself. It was only with the end of the last ice
age (about 10,000 BC) that we can see more sustained signs of modern humans (Homo sapiens)
settling here.

During the 2007-8 archaeological excavations, fragments of Mesolithic (c. 9,000—-4000 BC) flint were
found within the Park area, suggesting hunter gatherers were utilising the Lea Valley’s supplies of
fish and animals, and probably living in temporary campsites before moving on. Evidence for the first
farmers (in the Neolithic period: 4000-2500 BC) — who would have lived in more established
settlements — remains sparse, but a beautiful flint hand axe dated to this period was found under a
car park during excavations on Stratford High Street in 2008 (pictured above).

The first clear evidence of houses being built in what is today Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park comes
with the Middle Bronze Age (between 1500 and 1000 BC). At excavations undertaken south of
today’s London Aquatics Centre, the traces of several ‘roundhouses’ were found. These small
circular buildings were located on a patch of dry land that rose above the flood plain which would
have helped protect them from the worst of the River Lea’s flooding.
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This small settlement was rebuilt several times and the cattle, sheep and goat bones and burnt
wheat grains that were found here, alongside ditches and field boundaries, show that farming was
taking place. Archaeologists also found two human cremation urns here dating to the Late Bronze
Age (1000-700 BC), showing that people were putting down roots and not simply passing through.

An Iron Age skeleton being excavated by an archaeologist in early 2008 on the site of th London
Aquatics Centre. (© MOLA)

Occupation of this site continued on and off into the Iron Age. Four human skeletons were found
buried here, all dating to the Middle Iron Age (400-100 BC). Intriguingly, a single goat burial was also
found from this period. It is unusual to bury an animal that could have otherwise been used for food,
so this would suggest that the goat had special significance. This was most likely to do with sacrifice
or ritual but it’s tempting to speculate that it might have instead been someone’s beloved pet!

With the coming of the Roman invasion in 43 AD and the founding of London less than four miles to
the southwest, this site was abandoned, although the wider surrounding area continued to be used
for agricultural purposes.

1G

Augmented reality hotspot (video of on-site experience): the Iron Age Village at the London
Aqguatics Centre

Further reading
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Powell, Andrew, 2012. By River, Fields and Factories: the making of the Lower Lea valley:
archaeological and cultural heritage investigations on the site of the London 2012 Olympic and
Paralympic Games. Salisbury: Wessex Archaeology: chapters 2—4 (see sections on ‘Trench 9’).

Symonds, Matthew. 2012. The Archaeology of the Olympic Park - London’s first East Enders. Current
Archaeology (269).

Living and working in the Lower Lea Valley before the Industrial Revolution

The Lower Lea Valley only became densely settled with the coming of the Industrial Revolution when
the marshy land was drained and many new homes and businesses were built. But people had lived
and worked here for centuries before this, drawn to the rich resources provided by the River Lea and
surrounding land. The fertile marshland was an ideal place to grow crops and graze animals, and the
area was also especially valued for the availability of water-power from the river and the wind power
from the open marshes.

Several different water and windmills sprung up from the medieval period onwards, in what is today
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. These were initially for grinding grain to make flour, but were also
later used for making chemicals and gunpowder. At least eight watermills were recorded by the
Domesday Book in the eleventh century, soon after the Norman Conquest, including at Temple Mills,
and the Pudding Mill and Saynes Mill — these last two near to Stratford High Street. Windmills were
also established here, including one close to today’s London Stadium at Nob’s Hill (the site of the
boat discussed elsewhere in the guide) and others at St Thomas’ Mill (nearby to Pudding Mill DLR
station) and at Stent’s Mill, near to today’s UCL East site and London Aquatics Centre. These
windmills would have been used mainly for grinding corn into flour, but also provided extra power
for times when river levels were too low for the watermills to work efficiently.

It is likely that people lived and worked very nearby to these early mills — for example, a cottage was
built next to Nob’s Hill windmill and survived until the 1940s. With these isolated mills and cottages
accompanied only by a few roadside pubs and the odd farm, compared to the growing city of
London and its rapidly expanding East End, this place would have felt very rural until the late
nineteenth century.

Most of the mills were knocked down by the late nineteenth century as steam power (and then
electricity) took over, powering the Valley’s industries, but you can still visit a surviving water mill
that was built in 1776 just to the south of the Park at Three Mills (the House Mill).
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Further reading

Powell, Andrew, 2012. By River, Fields and Factories: the making of the Lower Lea valley:
archaeological and cultural heritage investigations on the site of the London 2012 Olympic and
Paralympic Games. Salisbury: Wessex Archaeology: chapters 5 and 6.

Summary of excavations at Sayne’s Mill (2008): https://www.mola.org.uk/blog/150-stratford-high-
street
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Full article on Sayne’s Mill: Wroe-Brown, Robin. et al. 2014. Saynes Mill: excavation of a tide mill on
the River Lea, London. Post-Medieval Archaeology 48(2): 357-387.

Defending London at Bully Fen

- = ".z I~ |
A 3.7-inch anti-aircraft gun, similar to those that were based at Bully Fen in the north of today’s
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park (Public Domain)
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Although a different kind of ‘encampment’ from the others discussed in this section, a small patch of
land called Bully Fen (near today’s Lee Valley VeloPark) did once house soldiers and civilians who
were engaged in protecting London; first in the Second World War and then during the Cold War.

In 1938 four heavy anti-aircraft guns were built here in preparation for war, along with a magazine
and cordite store. A ‘gun-laying’ radar was added in 1940 to help the guns find Luftwaffe bombers in
the dark. A picture of similar 3.7-inch guns in their concrete octagonal pit can be seen above (this
one was in Richmond Park). During the war these guns were said to be the first in London to shoot
down bombers in 1940 and were later upgraded to a higher calibre to cope with V1 and V2 rocket
attacks. Excavations during the preparations for the Olympic and Paralympic Games found the
concrete bases of the guns and the buildings, as well as some of the soldiers’ protective helmets.

Between 1953 and 1968 Bully Fen became a Civil Defence Corps training ground and was once again
used for the defence of London, though this time it was run by civilian volunteers rather than
soldiers. The Corps were set up by the Home Office in 1949 to counter the threat of nuclear war and
the site was used to train volunteers to rescue and care for people in the aftermath of expected
atomic bomb (and later, hydrogen bomb) attacks on the UK. An entire ‘ruined’ village was
constructed at Bully Fen for volunteers to practice at ‘saving’ people from bombed-out rooms and to
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learn how to dig out casualties from piles of rubble, while volunteer nurses and a welfare section
provided first aid and field kitchens.

The training site initially reused roads and buildings from the anti-aircraft defences but later saw
around 20 purpose-built ‘ruined’ structures erected. These included an array of mocked-up
residential and industrial buildings, some of which reused real rubble, doors and furniture from
buildings that had been bombed during the Second World War.

In an effort to increase recruitment, the site hosted open days and ran competitions between
different London Boroughs’ Civil Defence sections. These events drew volunteers and visitors from
all over London. The Civil Defence Corps was ultimately disbanded by the government in the late
1960s and this site was demolished and filled in with soil after it was taken over by the Lee Valley
Park Authority.

Further reading
Brown, Gary, Thompson, Guy, & Bower, Kari 2012. When the War came to Stratford: archaeological

and built heritage recording of Second World War structures in the Lower Lea Valley. London
Archaeologist 13(3): 77-83.

Gardner, J. 2020. Recurring Dreams: Mega Events and Traces of Past Futures. Archaeology
International 22(1): 86-99.

You can watch Pathé newsreel footage of the Civil Defence Corps Training Ground in use in 1963

Internment and Prisoner of War Camps

Stratford Camp Mess Hall (© Imperial War Museum and Newham Archives)

At the start of the First World War there was a growing fear that Germans living in Britain might
become spies or agents for the enemy. In Stratford (amongst other places) German-owned shops
were attacked by violent mobs. The government adopted an internment policy and eventually
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24,000 German and Austrian men who were of military age were kept in guarded camps where they
could be watched and protected from abuse, although the men concerned had committed no crime,
and often had English wives and English children. Some had lived in Britain so long that they
themselves had children serving on the frontline against the German:s.

The Stratford Camp housed up to 740 internees and was situated in the William Ritchie & Sons jute
spinning factory on Carpenters Road. Conditions could be tough with confined living quarters,
almost no privacy and vulnerability to aggression and violence from guards and fellow detainees.
One internee described the Stratford Camp as a ‘veritable hell’. Hostile crowds could gather around
men leaving or entering the camp - ‘they spat, they insulted, they jeered, they threw things’ —
recalled Mr Cohen-Porteim, a prisoner at Stratford. To relieve boredom gambling was common and
the camp had a small theatre and a piano for internees to make their own entertainment. It closed
in 1917.

In the Second World War another camp was established, this time for captured Prisoners of War
(housing them became a major task, with more than 400,000 POWs in Britain by 1946). At its peak
1,500 prisoners were housed in Camp 30, and the inmates were forced to work on nearby farms,
yards and public works. They lived in huts and buildings located near to what is now the London
Aquatics Centre; we have struggled to find the exact location. An English Heritage report camp list
gives a map reference close to the Arcelor Mittal Orbit but we feel this is too distant from
Carpenters Road and this area was dominated by railway lines.

All prisoners were graded A, B or C for their political views and housed accordingly in segregated
huts. The most hardcore Nazis were kept separate from others in a barracks in nearby Victoria Park.
Prisoners were taught English and underwent ‘re-education’ and assessment before they could be
repatriated.

After the war, the relationship with local people seemed better compared to the earlier camp;
prisoners visited West Ham Football Club and prisoners played football against local club sides. Their
orchestra was invited to give a recital in nearby Leyton Public Gardens and some prisoners were
taken to council meetings in Chingford, presumably to see local democracy in action. They were also
given access to newspapers and radio to learn about the outside world.

The camp didn’t close until 1948. Many prisoners resented being held long after the war was over,
but some were considered extremely high-risk, and for many prisoners return home was both
difficult and dangerous as so much of Germany was now occupied by Soviet troops.
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Further Reading

Buck, S. (2014). Little Germany, Stratford 1914, History Workshop Online

English Heritage (2016). Every prisoner of war camp in the UK mapped and listed, The Guardian

Hallifax, S. (2012). Foreigners in Stratford, Great War London

Morton, S. (2014). Researching Stratford's First World War German internment camp
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Panayi, P. (1991). Enemy in Our Midst: Germans in Britain During the First World War. London:
Bloomsbury. pp.103

Panayi, P. (2020) Prisoners of War and Internees (Great Britain) International Encyclopaedia of the
First World War.

trialbyjeory (2010). London Olympics site was a German PoW camp Trail By Jeory

Allotments of Eton Manor

Manor Allotments (Juliet Davis 2006)

Although they were not an encampment in the usual sense of the word, the Manor Garden
Allotments which occupied a spit of land between the Lea and Channelsea Rivers certainly

39


https://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/prisoners_of_war_and_internees_great_britain
https://trialbyjeory.com/2010/07/13/london-olympics-site-was-a-german-pow-camp/

resembled temporary living quarters, and to an extent functioned as such. The gardens
accommodated eighty plots, tended by members of an ethnically, culturally and socioeconomically
diverse and intergenerational community, some members of which had gardened there since their
childhood, some as far back as the 1920s. Typically each plot included a tool shed, along with raised
bed and trellises of various sorts for growing food, although some sheds accommodated far more
than tools — tables and chairs, pictures, rudimentary cooking equipment, pots, kettles and pans. The
elements of each plot were often assembled from off-cut or salvaged, repurposed materials — for
example second-hand floorboards, old doors and sash windows, electrical cables and milk bottles —
to produce a creatively ad-hoc environment within which no two plots were the same.

The gardens were established by the aristocrat and philanthropist Major Arthur Villiers in 1924. At
the time, allotments provided important means for deprived families to supplement their incomes
by growing their own food, and this was also seen as a wholesome activity for the poor. A veteran of
the First World War, Villiers was a son of the Earl of Jersey, a director of Barings Bank, and an Eton
College Old Boy.

This was a part of London’s fringes in which this elite public school had taken an interest for some
time, first funding a mission outpost in Hackney Wick, informed by the religious and political
philosophy of Christian Socialism, in 1883. Sport quickly became a key focus of the programme of
educational and moralising activities which the Mission established for ‘rough boys’. In 1909, along
with several other Old Etonians, Villiers had played a lead role in the establishment of a clubhouse
for 14-18-year-olds as an offshoot of the mission which led to the proliferation of clubs connected
to different sports including rowing, swimming and football. After the War, he extended the facility
by purchasing 30 acres of a former ballast pit which had once formed part of the landholding of a
medieval Manor known as Chobhams (the site of today’s legacy community, Chobham Manor) to
form the Eton Manor sports ground. A slice of this land became the allotments. The area was known
as ‘The Wilderness’ and was a focus for training, skill-building and sporting contests up until the
1960s.

As well as hosting games locally, the activities of Eton Manor included the organisation of numerous
camps, including the annual members’ camps at Cuckoo Weir on the River Thames at Eton. These
gave young people a flavour of life outside east London while also serving to build team spirit and a
sense of loyalty and community.
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Further Reading
Kerrigan, Colm, ‘Football Missionaries at Hackney Wick, 1880-1913’, Hackney History, no. 6 (2000):

39-49.

Johansen, M. (2009). The ‘Up the Manor!” Oral History Project. History Workshop Journal, Volume
68, Issue 1, pp. 234-246.

Eagar, Waldo Mcgillicuddy (1953). Making Men: the history of Boys Clubs and related movements in
Great Britain, London: University of London Press.
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Gypsy and Traveller Encampments and Decampments

ENIFE.GRINDER, HACKNEY WICK. TENT AT HACKNET.

Romany Gypsies on Hackney Marshes (Hackney Archives)
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Hackney Marshes, 1973 (Helmut Zozmann, 1973 / cc-by-sa/2.0)

Before the Olympics, there were two council-run sites for Gypsies and Travellers. The Clay’s
Lane Estate Traveller site, which was in Newham, was established after the Caravan Sites
Act of 1968 mandated local authorities to designate lands for travelling groups in their
areas. The Waterden Crecent site in Hackney was formed in response to the same
legislation although later, in the early 1990s. Under the flyover of the A12, there was a third,
unofficial encampment of a few caravans which sheltered under the dual carriageway
beside the River Lea, eventually moving on in 2007.

Waterden Crescent, 2005 (Juliet Davis)

The Clays Lane site provided fifteen pitches while Waterden Cresent provided twenty, each
typically associated with a family. Many of the families that occupied them had been settled
there since the beginning, living in a mix of mobile homes and bungalows. By the turn of the
twenty-first century, travelling for these groups was limited to the holidays, when the sites
would temporarily hollow out as the families decamped for fine weather at the coast.

But the communities were quite different from one another. The Clays Lane group was of
Roma Gypsy descent, very possibly with longstanding links to the Lea Valley through
patterns of seasonal work, historic routes across the Thames into Hertfordshire and
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established temporary dwelling grounds. In contrast, the Waterden Crescent families were
of Irish Traveller descent, arriving homeless in England in the 1980s.

The Lea Valley has been associated with travelling communities for as long as five centuries.
Once, they gravitated to the common lands of Hackney, Walthamstow, Leyton and
Tottenham Marshes, where they could park caravans, graze horses and pitch canvas tents.
Much of the green space associated with these lands survived the expansion of London in
the nineteenth and twentieth centuries but fell under different rules of occupancy as
Metropolitan Open Land. Indeed, it was the steadily accruing impacts of the enclosure of
common lands and of other rules governing itinerant ways of life across the UK that created
the context for the 1968 Act.

In 2007, after protracted negotiations including a hearing at London’s High Court, the Clays
Lane community was resettled on a single site while the Waterden Crescent community was
divided across three small sites. All sites were more closely integrated spatially with other
London residential communities than the Lea Valley sites had been. The new
accommodation, designed with community involvement, included both homes and pitches
to reflect the preferences of individual families. As built, all sites reflect a further shift in
terms of the traditions of Gypsy and Traveller dwelling from encampment to lasting
settlement and fixed abode.

Further Reading
Altheer, D. (2009). Hackney’s place in the Romany Story Hackney Citizen

Evans, S. (2004). Stopping Places: A Gypsy History of South London and Kent. Hatfield: The
University of Hertfordshire Press.

Smith, D.M. and Greenfields, M. (2013). Gypsies and Travellers in housing: the decline of
nomadism. Bristol: Policy Press.

Clays Lane Housing Cooperative

The Clays Lane complex (C. Syrett, Bishopsgate Library)
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The Clays Lane Housing Cooperative began life in 1977 on the site of former allotments, industries
and a playing field, squeezed between a freightliner terminal and the Eastway Cycle Circuit. Initially
funded by Newham Council, the University of East London, The Society for Cooperative Dwellings
and the Housing Corporation, it was later managed as an independent cooperative housing
association. It provided its members with an attractive combination of low-cost housing and the
possibility of self-governance.

The housing was purpose-built for single people and was an experiment in design aimed at fostering
social interaction and cultivating mutual support networks. It consisted of 50 self-contained dwelling
units and a further 57 six to ten-bed shared houses. These were distributed around a series of ten
courtyards, with access to each home provided off these spaces. The courtyards were each named
after a key figure in the foundation of the UK’s Cooperative Movement. They operated as units
within the cooperative’s governance structure, each having a representative who sat on the estate’s
management board.

As well as offering access to the homes, the courtyards included seating and gardens which were a
focus for communal life and activity. Living rooms and kitchens were positioned in each home to
face the courtyards, becoming thresholds spaces between fully communal activity and private life.
The complex also included a community centre, café and shop which were additions formed in 1984.
According to one former resident interviewed by Juliet Davis in 2008, because of its location, the
estate was ‘a kind of island,” but one which ‘had created connections within itself’ that distinguished
its sense of community from many other housing estates.

As with all housing associations, the cooperative was overseen by the Housing Corporation. In 2000,
the Housing Corporation instigated a statutory inquiry into the management of Clays Lane. The
result was a report by the Audit Commission outlining a series of issues of building management and
governance. Its final recommendation was that, in order to address its findings, the housing should
be transferred to the Peabody Trust. Clays Lane Housing Cooperative appealed against this as it
would lose its mutual status, with implications for local participatory democracy. The Housing
Corporation rejected its proposal and the transfer eventually went ahead in 2005. Clays Lane Estate
as it was now known was subsequently managed by the Waltham Forest Community Based Housing
Association but only for a short time as, by 2005, demolition and relocation options were being
actively pursued by the London Development Agency.

By July 2007, all 430 residents had received orders to leave and move on, resulting in the dispersal of
the community across London rather than as a community in the manner that many residents
favoured. For many, these evictions appeared to starkly contradict the notion that the Olympics
would lead to the development of sustainable communities in the manner claimed by government
and planner. The vacated Estate was demolished in September 2007.

Further Reading

Hatcher, C. (2012). Forced Evictions: Legacies of Dislocation on the Clays Lane Estate. In Powell, H.
and |. Marrero-Guillamdn (eds) The Art of Dissent: Adventures in London's Olympic State.
London: Marshgate Press, pp. 197-206

Weber-Newth F. (2017.) Contesting Community on London 2012’s Olympic Fringe. In: Cohen P.,
Watt P. (eds) London 2012 and the Post-Olympics City. Palgrave Macmillan, London

There is an extensive archive of papers, images an ephemera, see Clays Lane Live Archive,
Bishopsgate Library, London.
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Edgelands made and re-made

This theme looks at the many ways the site and its inhabitants both human and non-human, have
been transformed as it is excavated, engineered, polluted, demolished and re-built.

The opening sequence of the opening ceremony of the London 2012 Olympics featured a pastoral
scene complete with sheep, Maypole dancing and a cricket match. This romantic vision of England’s
Once Green and Pleasant Land was rudely interrupted by the ‘peasants’ literally removing the
common ground from under their feet, in a do -it yourself version of the eighteenth-century
enclosure movement and then being herded into mines, mills, foundries and factories.

In reality, commons, or ‘lammas lands’, as they were called, with their customary rights to pasture
persisted in certain areas, especially those located on the edge of urban developments. Agricultural
uses and lammas lands persisted in places long after London had swelled well beyond its border into
Essex. As late as 2007, some of these territories became the focus of campaigns by local residents
opposed to the loss of amenity in the plans for the 2012 Olympics site.

At that time, just before the site was cleared, it was made up of a rich mix of other sorts of
edgelands, both economic and ecological. Scrap metal yards, car repair workshops, small family run
enterprises, many of them part of east London’s informal economy dotted the landscape, while all
manner of wildlife flourished in the interstices, making it a favoured destination of local naturalists.

In this segment of our story we are going to trace how these edgelands were made and remade.
from the practice of common ground-making to the compost-enriching of soil for allotments, from
the reclaiming of marshy ground to its in-filling from the building materials waste left over from the
bomb damage, from traditional landfill to the creation of fridge mountains.

Underlying these developments is the continual use of the Lea River to mark boundaries both social
and jurisdictional. For centuries, the River was a county boundary and also marked the limits of
parishes and estates, their common lands extending into the marsh. It marked the eastern edge of
the jurisdiction of London’s first government from 1855-1889, and of the County of London from
1889-1965. On the formation of Greater London in 1965, aimed at containing the city’s spillage over
its boundaries, it remained as a limit between Inner and Outer London boroughs.

These evolving boundaries shaped the transformation of the area around Stratford in significant
ways. The Metropolitan Buildings Act of 1844 meant that noxious and dangerous industry could not
be located within 50 feet of other buildings, ensuring their re-location to the outskirts of London. It
was east London’s historical status as an edgeland which enabled Stratford and its environs to
become an engine of the city’s economic growth, linked to the docks and railways, and a major hub
of its trade with the rest of the world. Fast forward to the 1980s, however and it was its carefully
engineered status as a de-industrialised edgeland that enabled it to become the focus of a
regeneration strategy that pivoted on its transformation into the main site for the 2012 Games bid.

This move was the culmination of the shift in London’s economic centre of gravity and growth from
west to east which begun with the building of a new financial quarter in Canary Wharf, the site of
the old West India Docks in the 1980s. The historical reputation of east London as a dangerous and
unruly edgeland gave way to a new image of fashionable, and safely consumable, edginess.

This pattern — of what appears to be marginal, generating a powerful dynamic of more-than-local
change —is a connecting thread in the site’s material history. It is present in the great engineering
works of Brunel, and the tunnelling works under the site carried out as part of the Demolish, Dig,
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Design phase of Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park’s construction. It is there in the negative impact of
industrial pollution on the local population of plants and animals, and on human health; and it is
evident in the environmental impact of the site’s waste management strategies as these developed
in the twentieth century.

Today with the evolution of east London’s response to the global climate emergency, a more
positive outcome might yet be possible. Perhaps we will we see urban farming developing on the
Park, supplying locally sourced fruit and vegetables to the population, as well as being host to bio-
tech industry as it pioneers advances in medical and environmental science? In fact, one of the
original 2012 legacy plans was for the building of a Science Park. Might University College London,
which is establishing a new campus on the site, become an intellectual leading edge in the transition
to a green economy which works for the many, and not just the few?

A common landscape

Hackney Marshes, 1920 (Courtesy of the Eton Manor Archive, Bishopsgate Institute)
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Hackney Marshes (Juliet Davis, 2009)

Before industry came to the Lower Lea Valley, its meadows and marshes were shaped for centuries
by agriculture and grazing. Surviving pre-nineteenth century accounts portray the valley as moist and
green, providing ample food for livestock. From as far back as the 9t century in the reign of Alfred
the Great, large tracts were common lands associated with local parishes and Manors. East Marsh
along with the wide expanse of the Hackney Marshes beside it fell into this category. They were of a
particular sort of common land known as Lammas Lands, and were part of the Hackney Manor of
Lordshold.

Lammas was the day that marked midsummer and the beginning of the harvest in the Celtic
calendar. After 1752, when the Julian calendar was replaced with the Gregorian calendar which we
use to this day, Lammas Day was designated as 12" August. Between this date and the date used to
mark the Feast of the Annunciation in the Christian calendar, Lady Day, on 25" March, commoners
used the open marshes to pasture their animals. But from Lady Day until Lammas, the landscape
transformed dramatically as they were able to subdivide the marshes according to their tenancies
with stakes. These set out a series of narrow strips of land in which they could cultivate arable crops.
The seasonal formation of the landscape by commoners, in other words, was deeply interwoven
with customs associated with land ownership, religion, class and food production under feudalism.
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Hackney Marshes and East Marsh Lammas Lands located (in pale green) amid the field patterns and
routes through the landscape in 1800 (Juliet Davis, 2009)

Hackney Marshes and East Marsh survived as Lammas lands until the late nineteenth century, even
as industry and workers’ housing developed all around, as the villages of Hackney, Bow and
Homerton were absorbed into London, and as manors such as Lordshold were gradually divided and
sold off piece by piece. At least in part, fierce defence of customs and rights on the part of the
commoners of Homerton and Hackney were key to this survival. This included resisting all incursions
onto their lands by trespassers, even travellers seeking pasture for their horses or setting up
seasonal fairs. Not far away in the commons of Leyton Marshes in 1892, commoners resisted the
encroachment of the East London Water Company on their territory, suggesting acute awareness in
the Valley of the politics of enclosure in Britain and the significance of lost rights to land for ordinary
people in Britain’s capitalist economy.
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At last, in 1894, the 337 acres of the Hackney Mashes were acquired by the London County Council
by purchasing the landowner’s interest and the commoners’ rights for £75,000. Thus began their
transformation by the local State after more than 900 years into a recreational landscape as
metropolitan open land. But many locals appear to have remained disgruntled, The Morning Post of
July 23 1894 claiming that ‘the proceedings were somewhat marred by the hostile attitude of a
section of the crowd.’
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Impacts of industrial pollution

The Clarnico Works, Hackney Wick, 1921 (Historic England Aerofilms Collection)

The middle of the 1800s to the late 1960s was a century of soot. Tens of thousands of chimneys,
both industrial and domestic, poured out smoke into the urban atmosphere, darkening the skies,
coating every surface and releasing deadly loads of sulphur dioxide. So dense was the concentration
that it sometimes produced the phenomena known as ‘smogs’ or ‘pea-soupers’, thick, sickly yellow
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fogs reducing visibility to just a few yards and causing innumerable deaths through respiratory
complaints.

The effect on plant life was also dramatic. The layers of smoke reduced light levels, with winter
sunshine dipping by as much as 50 per cent, slowing plant growth, killing off most urban conifers and
causing deciduous trees to shed their leaves earlier in the season. More significant still were the
effects of airborne pollution, with sulphur dioxide having a toxic effect on plants. Tree growth
slowed or ceased and many of the most familiar species of tree remaining on our streets today are
those which were best adapted to resist this onslaught; poplar, plane, ash and sycamore.

At the other end of the scale are the lichens; small, crusty growths commonly found on walls, roofs,
pavements and the bark of trees. Small though they are, they have a scientific significance and have
been used to map and measure levels of airborne pollution. In the period up to the 1960s, they were
reduced to just a few surviving species in London, giving rise to what was known as a ‘lichen desert’.
Those few that did survive were largely of exotic origin; species that had initially evolved, for
example, around places like sulphur springs.

The smoke and smogs also had a detrimental effect on insects and other invertebrates, reducing the
numbers, especially of species like ladybirds. The loss of invertebrates led to a reduction in the
numbers of urban bats and of insect-eating birds, such as swifts and house martins. One other
impact of pollution on insect populations has been much discussed as it is thought to represent
evolution in action. Common in urban areas, the Peppered moth is whitish but sprinkled with darker
dots, its colouration providing a camouflage against the bark of trees on which it rests. Sometimes
however it produces a form that it almost black and as the bark of trees darkened with soot from
industrial smoke, it was noted that the camouflage of the white form was no longer effective and
that the darker form was becoming more and more common. A similar effect was noted with other
insect species.

Airborne pollution would always have been particularly bad in the East End of London, including
Stratford. The prevailing winds in this country are from the west, blowing the smog and the
pollutants eastwards. For this reason, the smelliest and most ‘noxious’ industries were banned from
the City of London and concentrated here on its eastern borders. Even before the Industrial
Revolution the area was a centre for slaughterhouses, fat renders, bone yards, tile kilns and
potteries, and later for factories, car breakers, chemical works and refineries. As well as atmospheric
impacts this was to lead to very high levels of soil pollution, with high concentrations of copper, zinc,
boron and, most of all, lead. This is particularly destructive of the micro-organisms in the soil, which
form the basis of the web of life, reducing their quantities by as much as 50 per cent and for decades
to come. When the Olympic site was being prepared, thousands of tons of chemically polluted soils
had to be removed from the site.

Chemical works that settled in the Stratford area in the nineteenth century were makers of the
landscape not just as they led to the development of London’s industrial borderlands, but also as a
result of the contaminants they left behind in soils and water. Chemical manufacturing began in the
area in the 1840s, and they became an important focus for development in the area just north of the
High Street between Bow and Stratford. Here these industries benefitted from proximity to road and
rail infrastructure, as well as to rivers and water. Products made here included sulphuric acid,
pharmaceuticals, perfumery and flavour chemicals, explosives and matches, paint, varnish, dye and
printing inks, and the refining of mineral oil and tar.
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Crown Chemical Works
One such firm was the Crown Chemical Works on Marshgate Lane. Established in 1863 by a T.D.

Scott and Co., by the 1920s, it made a range of chemicals for largely pharmaceutical, agricultural and
cleaning purposes including mineral acids, phosphoric acid, acetic acid, arsenic acid, phosphorous,
‘Crown’ brand ‘Sulpher Flowers’ and ‘Liver of Sulpher’.

The social researcher Charles Booth visited the Crown Chemical Works in 1893 as part of his broad
study of trades, industries and the related life of people in London at the end of the nineteenth
century. As described in Volume 6 of the Life and Labour of the People in London, Chemical industry
work was typically strenuous, dangerous, poorly paid and relatively unskilled. This was true at the
Crown Chemical Works where he observed a chemical worker manning a ‘salt cake furnace’ that
emitted unhealthy and ‘disagreeable’ gases and odours. ‘The furnace,” he notes, ‘was in an open
shed, simply roofed over but nevertheless whenever the door was opened either to rake out the
stuff or for some other reasons, very pungent fumes came out and for a few moments at least this
man was compelled to inhale them to some degree.’?

Workers at the plant included ordinary labourers such as this man, several foremen or ‘gaffers’, a
carman who took care of wagons and horses, a cooper (who, he noted, was ‘half-drunk’) and a
managing chemist. Except for the trained chemist, the work was ‘not very skilled’, wrote Booth,
though it was regular as demand for chemicals was relatively constant throughout the year, peaking
in the summer months. There were no union members among the employees reflecting a wider lack
of political organisation among workers in the chemical industry at the time. He saw the harshness
of the work reflected in the appearance of the foreman he spoke to noting that ‘he said he was 45!
He was already much grizzled so that he looked over 50.” Workers were also seen to take advantage
of the proximity of a public house, well positioned at the very end of Marshgate Lane to collect up
tired workers, ‘especially on Saturday evenings.’

Crown Chemical Works ceased operations in the 1930s.Products manufactured by Crown were
present in the ground in the vicinity of Marshgate Lane however in 2014. This included arsenic, long-
term exposure to which can be very harmful to humans.

Hemingway and Co.

Another polluting chemical works in the area was Hemingway and Co at 28 Marshgate Lane, north of
the Crown Chemical Works and close to the site of today’s Olympic Stadium. Established in the early
1870s, this was a manufacturer of dyes, fungicides, herbicides insecticides, the former of which were
used in a range of other industrial processes. The chemicals it made over its period in operation
were varied, including Arsenic Acid, Arsenic Metal, Calcium Arsenate, Copper Arsenate and Copper
Oxy Chloride (Paste Powder), Kuprokyl (Copper Fungicide), Lead Arsenate (Powder Paste Colloidal),
Lead Nitrate, Orpiment, Paris Green, London Purple, Sodium Arsenite, and a series of rare earth
chemicals including Thorium Oxide (which is radioactive).
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As with the Crown Chemical Works, Charles Booth visited this factory in 1893. He noted that, at the
time, its main colour product was red, made from oxide of iron. He also concentrated on the
production of the insecticide power known as ‘London Purple,” which contained arsenic. This was
exported to America from the 1870s where it was used to kill a range of leaf-eating insects including
the ‘potato bug.” Exposure to oxide of iron in the colour works was associated with respiratory
conditions and fever while London Purple carried a series of severe health implications given not
only the arsenic content but also the way the product was manufactured. Booth described how,
when the ‘product is dried or ground, the air is filled with particles’ which workers inhaled, settling in
their lungs and affecting life-expectancy.’> Danger seems to have been recognised though with
meagre financial recompense as every cask of the product produced and packed gave ‘to those men
who had a hand in working it’ an additional penny on their regular wages. As elsewhere in the
chemical industry at the time, work was hard, Booth noting that one worker he interviewed did a
regular 90-95 hours of labour a week.

Hemingway and Co. ceased operations in Stratford in the 1960s. As with the other chemical
industries in the area, the ground where Hemingway and Co. stood was found to be heavily
contaminated, forming part of the soil remediation programme carried out by the London
Development Agency in 2007-2008. There is some suggestion that contaminants from the works
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may also have ended up in West Ham tip, which was positioned beneath today’s Velodrome up until
1974. This may have included radioactive waste from the uses of Thorium in the post-War period.

Since the decline of heavy industry in London and the Clean Air Acts of the late 1960s, levels of
sulphur dioxide in London have decreased by nearly 90 per cent. Many plants have been able to
stage a come-back and this has been particularly obvious in the case of ferns. Species like
Maidenhair spleenwort, Black spleenwort, Wall rue and Polypody, which once grew on urban walls,
had almost completely disappeared from London. Now they have made a rapid and striking
recovery, providing a very visible symbol of the decrease of sulphur pollution.

Where one form of pollution has declined, however, another has increased. While heavy industry
and coal-burning fires have virtually disappeared, road traffic has increased dramatically. Cars, as
well as lorries and vans, are, in effect, the new chimneys, pouring out not sulphur dioxide but nitrous
oxides and particulates, including lead and heavy metals. Some plants are changing their habits of
growth as a result of this, and it is, once again, the lichen that are showing an impact. The species
that were able to survive the sulphur pollution are now being replaced by another very limited group
that can withstand high levels of nitrogen. It is the invertebrates, however, that are causing the
greatest concern with overall numbers in free-fall and many species, including urban butterflies and
many of our vital pollinators, under threat. With the loss of our insects we are continuing to lose the
birds that depend on them. Among many of our commonest species numbers are still declining.
They include blackbirds, starlings, swifts, house martins and even our familiar sparrows, once the
very emblem of life in the city.

BG and JG

1 Booth, C 1893 ‘Interview with Mr Johnson, Crown Chemical Works, Marshgate Lane, Stratford’
in Survey Notebook B93, 61-62

Booth, C 1893, Interview with representatives of Messrs Hemingways Company, Marshgate
Lane, Stratford, manufacturers of colours and insecticide, 19 July [1893], in Survey Notebook
B93, 54-56.

Further Reading
Booth, C. (1895). Life and Labour of the People in London, Volume 6. London: Macmillan.

Brimblecombe, P. The Big Smoke Oxon: Routledge.

Gilbert, 0. (2012) The Ecology of Urban Habitats London: Chapman and Hall

Hall, P. (2007 [1962]). The Industries of London Since 1861. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.

Lewis, J (2007). London's Lea Valley: Britain's Best Kept Secret. Bognor Regis: Phillimore Book
Publishing.

Marriott, J. (2011). Beyond the Tower: A History of East London. New Haven and London: Yale
University Press.

Morley, H. (1857). ‘Londoners over the Border’. In Dickens, C. (ed) Household Words 16, 390, pp.
241-244.

53



Biodiversity of the pre-Olympic and the current site

Wild Verges (Juliet Davis, 2007)

The 2012 London Olympics, it was proclaimed, would be ‘the greenest Olympics ever’, transforming
an area of ‘neglected and contaminated land’ into a stunning new park and an ‘outstanding
aesthetic experience’. This ‘ribbon of gold’ would be planted with 4,000 trees, 150,000 perennials
and 15,000 square metres of lawn. Better still, said the horticulturalists, it would be ‘driven by
biodiversity and sustainability objectives’, with an area the size of ten football pitches being sown
with wild flowers and accompanied by the erection of bird and bat boxes and the creation of new
wetland habitat.

The idea that the area, pre-Olympics, was merely ‘neglected and contaminated land’ was key to the
development of the site. Its depiction as a sort of derelict zombie wasteland was used to justify the
huge scale of compulsory purchase and the wholescale dislocation of the existing community. The
same thinking was applied to the biodiversity of the site which was regarded as virtually zero. In fact
the pre-Olympic Lower Lea had at least two significant habitats, both of which were lost as the site
was developed.

The first was the tidal nature of the river itself. The mudbanks of the complex of channels that
constitute the ‘Bow Back Rivers’, daily revealed as the tide rose and fell, supported a wealth of
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wildlife including molluscs, burrowing worms and a multiplicity of insect species. These, in turn
provided a rich source of food for fish, birds and bats. A key element of the Olympic development,
with the help of a £21.5 million new lock, was to dam the river at Three Mills. Above this point it
became no longer tidal; more suitable perhaps for luxury riverside living and expensive marinas, but
no longer a resource for biodiversity.

Even less appreciated as a natural resource was the complex patchwork of factory yards, small
enterprises, railway embankments, allotments and brownfield sites that made up the area. Far from
being ecological deserts, such post-industrial sites are rich in biodiversity with a mass of flowering
plants such as goat’s rue, common and purple toadflax, white and yellow melilot, tansy and
everlasting pea. Brownfield sites actually support 15 per cent of all our scarcest insect species, as
well as the black redstart, one of our rarest birds.

What then was the overall biodiversity impact of the development of the Park? Since no systematic
studies to compare pre- and post-development were conducted, it is impossible to quantify exactly.
On the plus side, the construction of new wetland habitats, particularly those just south of the
Timber Lodge, have provided a new resource for wildlife. The Park also has a biodiversity action plan
which includes sympathetic land management, for example meadows are cut on rotation to ensure
over-wintering habitat is always available, and some of the grasslands receive a spring cut too, with
the aim of creating a mosaic of habitat to help bees and other insects through the seasons. A variety
of bees (as well as other invertebrates) have been identified. Fifteen bat detectors were installed by
researchers to record and map sonic bat activity in the Park. Next to the Stadium and along the
Greenway, the large scabious mining bee and hairy-legged mining bee have been recorded and the
brown-banded carder bee has also been found on the Here East Green roof and North Park
meadows. The Park also has a mix of native and ornamental planting areas across ten different soil
types to encourage a variety of other fauna and flora.

Elsewhere, the news is not so good. Among other effects, the damming of the Lea will almost
certainly reduce stocks of native fish species which depend on migrating up and down the river.
Although the new lock was fitted with a ‘fish gate’, this is very different to the free passage of large
numbers of estuarine fish. According to the newsletter of the London Natural History Society, early
surveys showed a big decline in their numbers, while a walk up the river will sometimes reveal the
presence of numbers of Crucian or Mirror carp; exotic, introduced, leisure species which do away
with many other forms of wildlife. Other surveys reported in the same newsletter showed a decline
in the number of bats — despite the erection of those bat boxes. A survey along the river in 2006,
before the development, detected 36 ‘passes’ by bats of six species. By 2012 this had reduced to 11
passes by five species, and in 2013, just 6 passes by 2 species.

Much was made in the publicity for the Park of the creation of the wild-flower meadows. What
should be remembered is that this is just as much a form of gardening as formal, herbaceous
borders, introducing species from outside the area which require intensive year on year
maintenance to retain the same look. Huge levels of investment went into ensuring that the
‘wildflower’ meadows looked their very best for the games, but such a look is hard to sustain, and it
is highly unlikely that the same levels of spending will be continued. More important, however, is the
loss of the local. The creation of the meadows in the imaginary image of some lost English
countryside, actually involved removing all the plants that already thrived in the area. Among these,
the Danewort, or Dwarf elder, was iconic; a scarce species that had colonised the Stratford marshes
but which was bulldozed out for the creation of managed ‘wild” meadows.
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Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, overall, can be seen as a carefully controlled and managed concept of
‘wildlife’ imposed on the chaotically creative pre-existing one. Ecology is a long-term business, and it
will be some time before we can properly evaluate the overall gains and losses of the site. One thing,
however, is certain. With the continued growth of new residential development, greater pressures
of usage, with the related increase in light and noise pollution, the continuing impacts on the
biodiversity of the area can only be negative.
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Clarnico Sweet Factory

General view of the main buildings, (Clarke, Clarnico Specialities: lllustrated Nicholls and Combs Ltd
(1906))

If you walked along the canal in the early twentieth century you would have been able to smell
chocolate, strawberry and peppermint — the smellscape of industrial east London wasn’t all bad. The

56



Clarnico sweet factory was a huge complex of buildings with three big chimneys. Between the wars,
Clarnico was the largest sugar confectionery company in Britain. On the canal bank furthest from
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park was the chocolate factory, and the barges delivered cocoa beans,
sugar and fruit. Other works made liquorice, jam, jellies and lozenges. According to the export prices
list, over 700 different varieties of sweets were produced and shipped all over the world. The sweet
names were wonderfully evocative and exotic: Nutty Nougat, Paradise Fruits, Parma Violets, Parrot
Eggs, Turkish Delight, Mint Creams, Indian Pearls, Chinese Pig Tails, New Colonial Fruits and Dolly’s
Musical Bottles.

CLARNICO CONFECTIONS.

TR

Sweet selections (Clarke, Clarnico Specialities: Illustrated Nicholls and Combs Ltd (1906))

The name Clarnico was a contraction of the founder’s names, Clarke, Nicolls and Coombs, who
established their first factory here in 1872. They paid a Swiss chocolatier, Karl Layh, to provide them
with instructions on how to make chocolates on a large scale. Layh also recommended ways to keep
their recipes secret, like having fake thermometers showing the wrong cooking temperature or
keeping locked in the office a stock of vanilla essence, labelled as ‘secret ingredient’ to add to the
mixture.

The business grew to employ over 2,500 people, 